2000

Windsor Insurance Company v. American States Insurance Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to §78-2-2(3)(j), UTAH CODE ANN. (1953, as amended).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
AND APPLICABLE STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Issue Presented for Review: Was the district court's entry of a summary judgment in favor of American States erroneous and was the district court's denial of Windsor's motion for summary judgment erroneous? (R. 174).

Standard of Review: A district court's award of a summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. Rinderknecht v. Luck, 965 P.2d 564 (Utah App. 1998) ("This appeal is from a summary judgment, which is granted only when 'there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.' Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). 'Inasmuch as a challenge to summary judgment presents for review conclusions of law only, because, by definition, summary judgments do not resolve factual issues, this Court reviews those conclusions for correctness, without according deference to the trial court's legal conclusions.' *Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989) (per curiam). *Accord Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 925 P.2d 1270, 1272-73 (Utah Ct. App. 1996)."). This Court will view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to Windsor. See United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Co., 870 P.2d 880, 885 (Utah 1993); Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993); K&T, Inc. v. Koroulis, 888 P.2d 623, 624 (Utah 1994).

Issue Presented for Review: Was Brenda Chambers acting within the course

and scope of her employment when she traveled to the premises of her special employer at the behest of her general employer? (R. 35).

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed under a correction of error standard. See Drake v. Industrial Comm'n, 939 P.2d 177 (Utah 1997). When the underlying facts are not in dispute, the determination of whether an injury occurred within the course of employment is a conclusion of law. See Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 110 P.2d 334, 334 (1941). “The requirement that the accident arise in the course of employment is satisfied **if it occurs while the employee is rendering service to his employer, which he was hired to do**, at the time when and in the place where his employer directed him to render such service.” Walker v. U.S. Gen., Inc., 916 P.2d 903 (Utah 1996) (citing M & K Corp. v. Industrial Comm'n, 112 Utah 488, 493, 189 P.2d 132, 134 (1948)).

Also, Brenda Chambers’s travel within the course of her employment is a condition precedent under the insuring clause contained in American States’s insurance policy. Because this is a question of insurance coverage, review is for correctness and all facts are viewed in the light most favorable to a finding of coverage. See Gibbs M. Smith, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 949 P.2d 337 (Utah 1997); Nielsen v. O’Reilly, 848 P.2d 664, 665 (Utah 1992). “In interpreting an insurance policy, courts have uniformly resolved ambiguities, if any there be, in a policy strictly against the insurer and in favor of the insured.” LDS Hospital v. Capitol Life Ins. Co., 765 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1988). This

Court interprets insurance contracts in favor of coverage and, where ambiguous, in favor of the insured. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Sandt, 854 P.2d 519, 521 (Utah 1993) (citing DiEnes v. Safeco Life Ins. Co., 442 P.2d 468, 471 (Utah 1968)).

Issue Presented for Review: Was the district court's alternative conclusion that the statute of limitations applicable to Brenda Chambers's negligence barred actions against American States regarding its contractual obligations even though Brenda Chambers's legal liability for negligence had been determined prior to the running of the statute of limitations on that issue and prior to initiating the present litigation? (R. 122).

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed under a correction of error standard. See Cathco, Inc. v. Valentin Crane Brunjes Onyon Architects, 944 P.2d 365, 369 (Utah 1997); see also Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361, 1375 (Utah 1996) (explaining that the Defendant bears the burden of proving every element necessary to establish an affirmative defense) because this issue was determined on summary judgment it is reviewed for correctness. Estes v. Tibbs, 979 P.2d 823, 824 (Utah 1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDING, AND DISPOSITION BELOW.

This is an appeal of the district court's error in ruling that American States's insurance policy did not provide coverage based on the conclusion that "going-and-coming" rule is applicable to the undisputed facts. (R. 285 Transcript at p. 51-54).

On March 22, 1999, Windsor moved for a summary judgment based on its contention that American States's insurance policy provided primary coverage to Brenda Chambers. (R. 35). On May 21, 1999, American States, in turn, filed a cross-motion for summary judgment based on its contention that the lack of privity of contract between plaintiff and defendant precluded any recovery for plaintiff and on its contention that its contractual obligations were governed by the 4-year statute of limitations applicable to causes of action sounding in tort. (R. 76). The district court ruled from the bench subsequent to oral argument held on August 2, 1999 that American States's policy did not provide coverage for Brenda Chambers based on the Court's interpretation of the "going-and-coming" rule. (R. 285 Transcript at p. 51-54).

On September 2, 1999, Windsor filed a motion for a new trial based on its contention that the court failed to properly apply the "going-and-coming" rule to the undisputed facts. (R. 185). The district court refused to reconsider its ruling and the district court denied the motion in a signed MINUTE ENTRY DECISION which was filed in the Third Judicial District Court on December 8, 1999. (R. 264).

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On Saturday, May 15, 1993, LSI called Brenda Chambers and asked her to work at the landfill. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at pp. 5-8).
2. LSI always called Ms. Chambers at home when it needed her services. (R. 41,

Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 31).

3. Ms. Chambers accepted the assignment. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 10).

4. Ms. Chambers advised LSI that she would need to go to the store to purchase nylons prior to going to the jobsite. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 10).

5. LSI requires all workers in office positions to wear dresses and nylons. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at pp. 13-14).

6. LSI responded that the landfill would expect her to arrive at 9:30 a.m. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 10).

7. Ms. Chambers went to the Pik 'N' Save (now MacFrugal's) near her home to purchase nylons and she put them on in her car before leaving the parking lot. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 11).

8. If Ms. Chambers had not been required to purchase the nylons, she still would have taken the same street going Westbound. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 22).

9. After purchasing the nylons and putting them on, Ms. Chambers began to go directly to her work assignment at the landfill. (R. 41, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 37).

10. Ms. Chambers proceeded to make a left-hand turn from the parking lot in order to proceed West on 5300 South. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at pp. 11-

13).

11. A big, jacked-up truck was attempting to pull into the parking lot that Ms. Chambers was leaving. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 11).

12. The truck could not enter the parking-lot driveway until Ms. Chambers vacated it, therefore the truck stopped in its lane of traffic. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at pp. 11-12).

13. Ms. Chambers could not see around the truck, but the truck waved to her. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 12).

14. Ms. Chambers interpreted the wave as an “all-clear” signal, and she pulled into traffic. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 12).

15. As Ms. Chambers pulled into traffic, she was hit by a vehicle driven by Kathryn Zaborski. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 12).

16. Both Ms. Chambers and Ms. Zaborski were taken by ambulance to the hospital. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at pp. 24-25).

17. When Ms. Chambers got to the hospital she had a nurse call LSI and advise them that she had been injured and would not make it to her assignment. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 9).

18. Ms. Chambers later told LSI’s employee, Camille, about the accident. (R. 42, Deposition of Brenda Chambers at p. 17).

19. After paying its insured for her damages, Windsor sued Brenda Chambers

and obtained a default judgment against her in the sum of \$41,299.23 on or about August 20, 1996. (R. 43).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court improperly applied the “going-and-coming” rule to the undisputed facts of this case. If Brenda Chambers was acting within the course and scope of her employment with LSI at the time of the accident giving rise to Kathryn Zaborski’s injuries, then Brenda Chambers was an insured under American States’s insurance policy (LSI was the named insured). In other words, if Brenda Chambers was acting within the course and scope of her employment with LSI, then American States must provide indemnification to Windsor based upon its express obligation to Brenda Chambers. Indemnification is owed to Windsor because Windsor defended Brenda Chambers and paid her liability under its uninsured motorist coverage whereas American States had a primary obligation to defend Brenda Chambers and to indemnify her under its liability coverage.

A temporary employee’s performance of a temporary employment agency’s only service is not transmuted into a “commute to a fixed place of employment” simply because the temporary employer does not apportion compensation to that particular part of the temporary employee’s services. An employee is acting within the course and scope of her employment when the employee’s travel provides a benefit to the employer. A temporary

employee has two employers at the same time (a special employer and a general employer). Brenda Chambers was “commuting” with respect to her special employer, but she was “traveling” with respect to her general employer. Moreover, Brenda Chambers had no fixed place of employment. Under Utah law, the “going-and-coming” rule only applies to employees who have a fixed place of employment. LSI conducted its entire business through the travel of its temporary employees to the premises of its clients; therefore, its insurance policy provides coverage for “its” actions taken by and through its employees.

ARGUMENT

I. AMERICAN STATES’S INSURANCE POLICY WILL BE INTERPRETED IN FAVOR OF ITS INSURED — BRENDA CHAMBERS.

Brenda Chambers (Windsor¹) is entitled to primary coverage from American States. See Fuller v. Director of Finance, 694 P.2d 1045, 1047 (Utah 1985) (“An insured is entitled to the broadest protection he could have reasonably understood to be provided by the policy.”); see also Geico v. Dennis, 645 P.2d 672 (Utah 1982) (“the interpretation of

¹ An action by Windsor against American States is proper under equitable principles because Windsor paid a debt which in equity and good conscience should have been paid by American States. Equity disregards unduly formalistic requirements in order to secure justice. There is no good reason why the wrongdoer insurer should be free of its contractual liability by the fortuitous event of its insured’s poverty and concomitant inability to punish the insurer’s misconduct.

the terms involved is not fixed but varies according to the circumstances of the case. * * *

[M]ost courts will interpret the terms so as to extend the coverage if this can be done under any reasonable interpretation of the facts.” (quoting Hardware Mutual Casualty Co. v. Home Indemnity Co., 241 Cal. App. 2d 303, 50 Cal. Rptr. 508, 511-12 (1976) (other citations omitted))).

American States knew that it was issuing liability coverage for the negligence of LSI’s employees because a corporation only acts through its employees. This knowledge is imputed to American States by law:

The law of agency is based on the Latin maxim “Qui facit per alium, facit per se,” variously rendered as “He who does an act through another is deemed in law to do it himself,

2A C.J.S. Agency § 2, p. 549. In other words Brenda Chambers was an insured for actions that were within the course and scope of her employment because she is deemed in law to have been acting as LSI. Therefore, the question presented to the district court was whether Brenda Chambers’s conduct giving rise to Windsor’s payment of insurance benefits to Kathryn Zaborski occurred within the course and scope of Ms. Chambers’s employment.

The unrebutted testimony of Brenda Chambers establishes² that she was called on a

² It is well-settled that a person claiming the benefits of an insurance contract has the burden to bring herself within the terms of the insuring clause. Such a rule is properly stated as follows: “The burden is on plaintiff to prove that the loss or injury sued for was due to a risk or cause which was insured against; but, where plaintiff makes out a *prima*

Saturday and asked to travel to the landfill to provide temporary clerical services. Brenda Chambers did what she was asked to do when she was asked to do it; therefore, her travel was a term of her employment, and she was American States's insured when she injured Kathryn Zaborski.

II. TRAVEL UNDERTAKEN BY BRENDA CHAMBERS TO ARRIVE AT THE LANDFILL IS EXCEPTED FROM APPLICATION OF THE "GOING-AND-COMING" RULE AND WAS WITHIN THE COURSE OF HER EMPLOYMENT.

The Defendant urged the district court to confuse the "going-and-coming" rule with this class of cases — to wit: Where a journey is the essence of the employee's service to her employer,³ the journey is within the course and scope of employment. An employee who is required to report to various or constantly changing work sites is not generally

facie case of loss or injury within the terms of the policy, it is incumbent on defendant to rebut such case." 46 C.J.S. Insurance § 1316 b(6) at p. 399; accord Griffin v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 133 P.2d 333 (Utah 1943). Thus, **Windsor only needs to make out a *prima facie* case that Brenda Chambers was acting within the course and scope of her employment** in order to satisfy the condition precedent contained in American States's insuring clause and to prove American States's contractual liability.

³ Examples of other professions whose travel is the essence of their job would be: truck drivers, police officers, firemen, stewardesses, pizza deliverymen, milkmen, etc. Of course, the "going-and-coming" rule could apply to travel of these workers as well as temporary workers. A truck driver could "commute" to the garage to pick up his truck. A police officer could "commute" to the jail to receive his instructions for the day. A pizza deliveryman could be required to begin his delivery schedule after "commuting" to the restaurant. And a temporary employee could be required to "commute" to the business office of the agency before traveling to the premises of the special employer.

subject to the “going-and-coming” rule.⁴ Defendant’s flat assertion that Brenda Chambers was “commuting” because she was traveling between her home and the place where she planned to work that day (and that day only) is not sufficient to invoke the preclusive effect of the “going-and-coming” rule.

Brenda Chambers “was performing for [her general] employer a substantial service required by [her] employment at the place and in the manner so required.” Moser v. Industrial Commission, 440 P.2d 23 (Utah 1968). “This case, like Moser, is distinguishable from the usual case of going to, or coming from, work” Kinne v. Industrial Commission, 609 P.2d 926 (Utah 1980). The “going and coming” rule only applies to “an employee, having identifiable time and space limits on his employment” Drake v. Industrial Comm’n, 939 P.2d 177 (Utah 1997) (quoting 1 Arthur Larson, Larson’s Law of Workmen’s Compensation § 16.11, at 4-204).

Temporary employment, by its⁵ nature, subjects temporary employees to the hazards of the street. This fact distinguishes Brenda Chambers from a traditional

⁴ It is well-settled that, generally, “traveling to and from work is not part of the employment.” Lundberg v. Cream O’Weber/Federated Dairy Farms, Inc., 465 P.2d 175, 176 (Utah 1970). Thus, negligence of an employee **while commuting to a fixed premises** does not normally give rise to an employer’s vicarious liability. See Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co., 801 P.2d 934 (Utah 1989).

⁵ Windsor acknowledges that some temporary employment situations resemble permanent employment. When general terms or statements regarding “temporary employment” are used herein, such statements are meant to apply to those temporary employment situations that resemble the undisputed facts of this case.

employee who is simply going to a fixed place of work⁶ for a fixed number of hours and who, during the commute, is not yet engaged in performing any service growing out of and/or incidental to the employment terms and conditions.

Although this case centers on Brenda Chambers's status as an insured, the analysis is nearly identical to inquiring into LSI's joint and several liability for the torts of its employees under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*.⁷ American States relies on the "going-and-coming" rule to deny coverage because that rule — when applicable — may preclude the imposition of vicarious liability for the same reasons the doctrine of *respondeat superior* imposes vicarious liability.

The "going-and-coming" rule has been adopted because:

[I]t is unfair to impose unlimited liability on an employer for conduct of its employees over which it has no control and from which it derives no benefit.

⁶ "The rule excluding off-premises injuries during the journey to and from work does not apply if the making of the journey * * * is in itself a substantial part of the service for which the worker is employed." 1 Arthur Larson, Larson's Law of Workmen's Compensation § 16.00, at 4-193).

⁷ It is a longstanding rule of law that "[a] master is subject to liability for physical harm caused by the negligent conduct of servants within the scope of employment." Restatement of the law, Second, of Agency § 243. An employer assumes the torts of his employees when he enters into employment contracts with them because "[i]t would be unjust to permit an employer to gain from the intelligent cooperation of others without being responsible for the mistakes, the errors of judgment and the frailties of those working under his direction and for his benefit." Restatement of the law, Second, of Agency § 219.

Id. at 937; accord Kinne v. Industrial Comm'n, 609 P.2d 926 (Utah 1980) (holding that employer must receive some benefit).

Conversely, it is wholly appropriate to impose vicarious liability on an employer where a victim's injury results from conduct of an employee over whom the employer *does* have control and from whose actions it *does* derive a benefit. Thus, the primary focus, in determining whether or not the "going-and-coming" rule should apply, is on the benefit LSI received from Brenda Chambers's travel. See Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Insurance Co., 801 P.2d 934, 937 (Utah 1989) (stating that "the major focus in determining whether or not the general [going-and-coming] rule should apply . . . is on the benefit the employer receives and his control over the conduct.").

In sum, the journey-as-part-of-service principle precludes the application of the "going-and-coming" rule to Brenda Chambers's travel. Travel to the premises of the temporary employment agency's client was a necessary and interrelated part of the temporary employee's duties.⁸ Therefore, the cost of liability insurance to insure against losses arising out of the negligence of employees through whom the temporary labor

⁸ LSI chooses its business structure. It cannot avoid liability simply by asking its employees to begin the corporation's work at their homes and refusing to pay for the completion of that work. See Harline v. Barker, 912 P.2d 433 (Utah 1996) ("We do not believe it would be wise judicial policy to allow one party to create legal liability in another by a voluntary exercise of the complaining party's own personal business judgment not to seek to protect his rights in the legal forums provided him.").

service acts⁹ is a necessary and appropriate cost of providing temporary labor services.

III. BRENDA CHAMBERS WAS TRAVELING TO **HER DAY'S**
ASSIGNMENT AND WAS PERFORMING THE ONLY
BUSINESS CONDUCTED BY HER GENERAL EMPLOYER.

In *Gheri vs. Salazar*, the Utah Supreme Court addressed workers' compensation¹⁰ benefits in the context of the provision of temporary labor. The court recognized that an employee may have two employers under the loaned-employee doctrine whereby "[a] temporary labor service is a 'general employer' . . . and the business to which the employee is assigned is a 'special employer.'" *Gheri v. Salazar*, 883 P.2d 1352, 1356 (Utah 1994). In this case, LSI (American States's insured) was Brenda Chambers's "general employer" and LSI's client (the landfill) was her "special employer." This is true because "[w]hen an employee of a temporary labor service who has the right to accept or decline an assignment accepts an assignment, [s]he enters into an implied contract of hire with the special employer." *Gheri*, 883 P.2d at 1357.

Temporary labor services are general employers. A temporary labor service is in

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