2000

# Leslie Alder & Jackie Jones v. Miles, Inc., AGFA Corporation, and Bayer Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

### **III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT AGFA OWED NO DUTY TO APPELLANTS WITH RESPECT TO THE CONDITION OF LDS HOSPITAL’S VENTILATION SYSTEM.**

Appellants do not contest the District Court’s prior ruling that all product liability claims in this case are barred under the two-year Product Liability Act statute of limitations, Utah Code Ann. § 78-15-3 (1996). (See Order dated June 23, 1999; R. 1196—Addendum A.) Accordingly, the claims at issue on this appeal must necessarily be separate and distinct from any time-barred product liability claims that might otherwise be alleged against a product manufacturer or supplier under Utah law—*i.e.*, design defect, manufacturing defect or failure to warn. *House v. Armour of America, Inc.*, 886 P.2d 542, 547 (Utah App. 1994), *aff’d*, 929 P.2d 340 (1996).

In a transparent effort to avoid application of the Product Liability Act statute of limitations (see Section IV, *infra*), appellants seek to create a new duty on the part of AGFA to ensure the safety of workplace environments and systems over which AGFA

had no control or right of control. In addressing the issue of duty as a matter of law, the District Court correctly ruled that there was no basis upon which to impose a duty upon AGFA “to control the operation or installation of [the Hospital’s] ventilation system.” (R. 2367, 1196.) Appellants’ attack on the District Court’s duty ruling cannot withstand close scrutiny of the factual and legal citations set forth in their Opening Brief.

**A. Appellants Attempt To Assert Time-Barred Product Liability Claims and To Introduce Evidence of Product Defect Previously Excluded by this Court.**

In casting the widest possible net over its liability claims, Appellants have included two claims that are clearly time-barred and subject to the District Court’s prior ruling excluding any evidence of “product defects” from the trial of this matter: (1) failure to provide “safe equipment” (Appellants’ Brief, at 26), and (2) failure to warn (*id.* at 30). These claims must be rejected because the District Court held on June 23, 1999 that Appellants’ product liability claims against AGFA are time-barred. Appellants did not appeal this ruling. In so ruling, the District Court declared “[w]e’re not going to hear evidence at trial about defective products. It’s a case about alleged negligence on the part of people.” (Transcript of Motion for Summary Judgment Hearing held on June 23, 1999 before the Honorable Stephen L. Henriod; R. 2336 at 10.) *See also id.* at 1-2 (“[t]he plaintiff says that it’s a negligence case. He says he’s not going to attack the product, he is only going to attack installation and operation”).

The failure to “provide safe equipment” is either a design defect or manufacturing defect claim, both of which require a plaintiff to produce proof that the subject equipment is defective. Clearly, this is a basic product liability claim. *House*, 886 P.2d at 547 (Utah



law recognizes three types of product defects: design defects, manufacturing flaws and inadequate warnings regarding use). Further, the “failure to warn of dangers” associated with the use of a product is also a claim of “product defect.” *Id.* These claims are therefore time-barred based upon the Court’s June 23, 1999 ruling. *See also, Strickland v. General Motors Corp.*, 852 F. Supp. 956, 958-59 (D. Utah 1996) (stating that legislature intended that all claims against a manufacturer based on defective product were subject to the statute of limitations set forth in the Product Liability Act); *McCollin v. Synthese*, 50 F. Supp.2d 1119, 1122 (D. Utah 1999) (following *Strickland*).

**B. The Imposition upon AGFA of a Duty To Control the Operation or Installation of the Hospital’s Ventilation System Is Unjustified by the Factual Record and Existing Tort Law.**

Appellants’ threshold burden is to demonstrate that AGFA owed a duty to the Appellants to ensure that LDS Hospital complied with AGFA’s installation guidelines. *See DCR Inc. v. Peak Alarm Co.*, 663 P.2d 433, 434-45 (Utah 1983). The existence of a duty is a question of law for the court to decide and requires the court to assess whether the imposition of a duty is fair and appropriate. *AMS Salt Indus. v. Magnesium Corp. of America*, 942 P.2d 315, 319, 321 (Utah 1997). Among the factors to consider is whether the duty imposes an undue burden and whether the fulfillment of such a duty is feasible. *Id.*

Appellants argue that AGFA had a duty: (1) to use reasonable care in the installation of the Curix Compact; (2) to provide safe equipment; (3) to ensure that the Curix Compact was not operated in unsafe conditions; (4) to properly respond to the Plaintiffs’ complaints; (5) to meet its contractual obligations to LDS Hospital; and (6) to

warn Plaintiffs of the alleged risks of working near the Curix Compact without adequate ventilation. (Appellants' Brief at 24-31.) Appellants then distort the factual record to argue that AGFA breached these alleged duties.

First, Appellants argue that pursuant to an alleged contract between AGFA and LDS Hospital, AGFA "undertook to install the Curix Processor in the Mammography Suite and assumed all duties attendant thereto, including the duty to see to it that there was adequate ventilation for the Curix machine to be safely operated." (Appellant's Brief at 25.) Yet Appellants have not and cannot cite in the record to any alleged contract and cannot identify with specificity the purported obligations imposed on AGFA pursuant to this alleged contract.

Appellants also argue that LDS Hospital "relied upon the expertise of the AGFA people with respect to safely ventilating the workplace," thereby creating a duty on AGFA's part to use reasonable care in the installation of the Curix Machine, a duty that "included, at a minimum, the duty to ascertain whether there was adequate ventilation for the safe operation of the machine in its new location." (Appellants' Brief, at 25.) Yet there is absolutely no evidence that LDS Hospital abrogated its responsibility to ensure that the Hospital's ventilation system was properly designed or installed or that the Hospital relied upon AGFA to test or analyze the ventilation in the processing room. (R. 1423.) While AGFA participated in the installation of the Curix Compact in the Mammography Suite, it was LDS Hospital that provided the contractor constructing the new Mammography Suite with specific instructions that there must be ten air exchanges per hour in the room where the Curix Compact was to be located. (R. 1422.) LDS

Hospital determined that ten air exchanges per hour were necessary by referring to a manual for the Curix Compact that had been provided by AGFA. (*Id.*) Thus, LDS Hospital was well aware of the ventilation requirements and undertook to assure compliance with AGFA's guidelines. (*Id.*) Similarly, LDS Hospital did not rely upon AGFA to test the ventilation system in the Mammography Suite. (*Id.*) To the contrary, it was Tim Murray who inquired of Hospital representatives about the ventilation and was told that the room had been tested and that the ventilation was adequate. (*Id.*)

Despite the fact that Mr. Murray was assured that the ventilation was adequate, Appellants argue that AGFA knew or should have known that its machine was not safe for use in the Mammography Suite. According to Appellants, Murray "developed concerns that the ceiling vent [in the Mammography Suite] was not working" but "failed again to test the ventilation in the room." (Appellants' Brief at 25, fn. 6.) Appellants also argue that Murray was concerned that "the lack of ventilation was causing Ms. Jones' health problems" but still failed to test the ventilation, as he had been instructed to do by an AGFA product specialist, George Cervenka. (*Id.*) This recitation of the "facts" is not supported by the record.

There is absolutely no evidence that Mr. Murray thought he connected the Curix Compact to a vent that was not working properly. Although he was initially concerned that the vent in the Mammography Suite might be a cold air vent and not an exhaust vent, Murray specifically asked LDS Hospital for clarification. The Hospital confirmed that the vent was an exhaust vent, and to this day, Murray believes that the vent in the Mammography Suite is and always was an exhaust vent. (R. 2270-71.) Moreover,

Murray inquired of Hospital representatives if testing had been done and was assured that the ventilation had been tested and was adequate. (R. 1422.) Accordingly, there is absolutely no basis to infer that AGFA knew or should have known that the ventilation was not adequate.

When stripped of its unsubstantiated “facts,” the crux of Appellants’ argument is that LDS Hospital’s *ventilation system* was not properly designed or installed and the improper ventilation system caused an unsafe condition in the mammography suite. As AGFA played no role in the design or installation of the ventilation system, it cannot be charged with liability arising from the failure of that ventilation system. Similarly, the fact that Plaintiffs complained to AGFA representatives does not create a duty where none existed, particularly since AGFA had no control over the instrumentality allegedly causing Plaintiffs’ injury: the ventilation system. In sum, there is no factual rationale to support the imposition of a duty on AGFA to ensure that the ventilation system at LDS Hospital was adequate.

Just as there is no factual basis on which to impose a duty on AGFA to ensure that there was adequate ventilation in the Mammography Suite, there is no legal basis upon which to impose such a duty. Indeed, the duties that Appellants seek to impose on AGFA are unprecedented and unjustified. Appellants argue in essence that AGFA, a product seller, must ensure that its products are used properly by purchasers and product users. To support the imposition of such a duty on a product seller whose product is safe when used in accordance with its warnings and guidelines, Appellants merely point to inapplicable provisions of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS. They cannot

point to one case, however, where these RESTATEMENT provisions were applied to impose a duty on a product seller to “make sure” that its product is operated safely. To the contrary, the RESTATEMENT recognizes just the opposite: “*Where warning is given, the seller may reasonably assume that it will be read and heeded*; and a product bearing such a warning, which is safe for use if it is followed, is not in defective condition, nor is it unreasonably dangerous.” RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 402A comment j (emphasis added).

In sum, the District Court correctly determined that there was no basis in fact or in law to impose a duty on AGFA “to control the operation or installation of the ventilation system.” (R. 2367.) Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court’s order granting summary judgment in favor of AGFA.

**IV. THE DISTRICT COURT’S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED ON THE ALTERNATIVE GROUND THAT THE CLAIMS ASSERTED BY MS. ALDER AND MS. JONES ARE TIME-BARRED UNDER THE TWO-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN THE PRODUCT LIABILITY ACT.**

This Court may affirm the District Court’s ruling on any ground appearing in the record, whether relied upon by the District Court or not. *Salt Lake County v. Bangerter*, 928 P.2d 384, 386 (Utah 1996). Here, AGFA had initially moved before the District Court for summary judgment based on the two-year statute of limitations in Utah’s Products Liability Act, Utah Code Ann. § 78-15-1 through -6 (1996) (the “Act”). The Court’s ruling that the Appellants’ product liability claims were time-barred should have also barred as a matter of law the remaining “negligence” claims in the Amended Complaint. Based upon the District Court’s unchallenged ruling that Appellants were on

claims against AGFA more than two years prior to commencing suit, this Court should affirm the grant of summary judgment in favor of AGFA on the alternative ground that all claims asserted by Ms. Alder and Ms. Jones are time-barred under the Act.

In ruling on AGFA's prior statute of limitations motion, the District Court agreed that the Appellants had notice of their alleged injury and its alleged cause more than two years before filing the Complaint. Thus, the District Court granted AGFA's summary judgment motion to the extent that it dismissed the product liability claims in the Amended Complaint. (R. 1197.) However, the District Court also held that Appellants' negligence claims, if any, were not governed by the Act, and denied AGFA's motion to dismiss the entirety of the Amended Complaint. (*Id.*)

Although Appellants argued in opposition to AGFA's statute of limitations motion that this is not a product liability case, close scrutiny of the Record and Appellants' Opening Brief demonstrate that Appellants' claims arise from the basic allegations that AGFA's x-ray processing equipment was "unsafe" and "unreasonably dangerous" in its design and accompanying warnings. Ms. Alder and Ms. Jones contend on this appeal, and in the proceedings below, that AGFA's Curix Compact was "not safe for use" (Appellants' Brief at 26) and that liability should be imposed for AGFA's alleged failure to incorporate a ventilation system into the design of the machine (*Id.* at 27; R. 1433, 1442) or to "modify the subject equipment so as to render it safe" (Amended Complaint, at 5, ¶e) (R. 1355). Appellants further contend that the Curix Compact created an "unreasonable risk of harm to those that worked in" the Mammography Suite. (Appellants' Brief at 27.) In addition to these basic product defect contentions,

Appellants also argue that AGFA violated a duty to warn “regarding the risks of working near the Curix machine without proper ventilation” (*Id.* at 30), and more generally of the “health risks associated with working around the subject equipment” (Amended Complaint, at 5, ¶j)(R 1355).

Since the Act clearly applies to any claim that the Curix Compact was defectively designed or accompanied by insufficient warnings, the Act’s remedial intent would be flouted if Appellants were permitted to avoid the statutory scheme through the simple expedient of alleging that AGFA “fail[ed] adequately to address the workplace ventilation needs of Appellants;” or “fail[ed] to modify the equipment so as to render it safe;” or “allow[ed] the subject equipment” to be operated in a defective condition; or “fail[ed] adequately to respond to Appellants’ complaints.” These various creative allegations derive directly from Appellants’ traditional product defect claims, and would normally be asserted as garden-variety product liability causes of action. They are asserted here as negligence for one transparent reason: to avoid application of the two-year statute of limitation in the Act.

In sum, despite Appellants’ attempts to disguise their claims, each alleged breach of duty relates directly to the Curix Compact and an alleged design defect or failure to warn in connection with chemical vapors emitted from the Curix Compact. As such, the claims are governed by the Act and must be brought within two years of the Appellants’ discovery of their injuries and the cause of those injuries. Accordingly, the District Court’s dismissal of Appellants’ claims against AGFA should be affirmed on the

additional ground that all claims asserted in the Amended Complaint are barred by the two-year statute of limitations set forth in the Act.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, AGFA respectfully submits that this Court should affirm the decision of the District Court granting summary judgment to AGFA and dismissing the Amended Complaint.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the speculative and unreliable testimony from Appellants' experts that Ms. Jones and Ms. Alder have "multiple chemical sensitivity." The District Court properly exercised its gatekeeping responsibility under *Rimmasch*. Appellants failed to prove a legally cognizable injury. The District Court also correctly ruled that Ms. Jones and Ms. Alder failed to prove that their alleged MCS was caused by exposure to x-ray processing chemicals from the Curix Compact. In addition, the District Court correctly ruled that AGFA owed no duty to Appellants with respect to the condition of LDS Hospital's ventilation system. The District Court's grant of summary judgment can also be affirmed on the alternative ground that the claims asserted Appellants are time-barred under the two-year statute of limitations applicable to the Product Liability Act.